CORE Provided by Elsevier - Publisher Connector

EXPERIMENTAL CELL RESEARCH 329(2014)85-93

Available online at www.sciencedirect.com
ScienceDirect

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/yexcr



Review Article

DNA replication stress: Causes, resolution and disease



Abdelghani Mazouzi, Georgia Velimezi, Joanna I. Loizou*

CeMM Research Center for Molecular Medicine of the Austrian Academy of Sciences, Lazarettgasse 14, AKH BT 25.3, 1090 Vienna, Austria

ARTICLE INFORMATION

Article Chronology: Received 30 May 2014 Received in revised form 20 September 2014 Accepted 22 September 2014 Available online 30 September 2014

Keywords: DNA replication DNA damage signaling Replication stress Genome stability Chromosome fragile sites

ABSTRACT

DNA replication is a fundamental process of the cell that ensures accurate duplication of the genetic information and subsequent transfer to daughter cells. Various pertubations, originating from endogenous or exogenous sources, can interfere with proper progression and completion of the replication process, thus threatening genome integrity. Coordinated regulation of replication and the DNA damage response is therefore fundamental to counteract these challenges and ensure accurate synthesis of the genetic material under conditions of replication stress. In this review, we summarize the main sources of replication stress and the DNA damage signaling pathways that are activated in order to preserve genome integrity during DNA replication. We also discuss the association of replication stress and DNA damage in human disease and future perspectives in the field.

© 2014 The Authors. Published by Elsevier Inc. This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC-ND license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/3.0/).

Contents

Introduction	. 86
Overview of DNA replication	. 86
Sources of DNA replication stress	. 86
Fragile sites	. 86
Replication-transcription complex collision	. 88
Oncogenic stress	. 88
DNA structures	. 88
The kinases ATR and ATM signal DNA replication stress	. 88

Abbreviations: pre-RC, pre-replicative complex; CFS, common fragile site; DSB, DNA double strand break; CMG complex, Cdc45.Mcm2– 7.GINS; ERFS, early-replicating fragile site; DDR, DNA damage response; ssDNA, single-stranded DNA; IR, ionizing radiation; HGPS, Hutchinson–Gilford progeria syndrome; SIOD, Schimke immune-osseous dysplasia; AOA1, Apraxia Oculomotor Ataxia 1; FA, Fanconi anemia; iPOND, Isolation of protein on nascent DNA; BLESS, direct in situ breaks labeling, enrichment on streptavidin and nextgeneration sequencing; CRISPR, Clustered regulatory interspaced short palindromic repeats

*Corresponding author. Fax: +43 1 40160 970 000.

E-mail address: jloizou@cemm.oeaw.ac.at (J.I. Loizou).

http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.yexcr.2014.09.030

0014-4827/© 2014 The Authors. Published by Elsevier Inc. This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC-ND license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/3.0/).

Functions of ATR Functions of ATM	. 89 . 89
Defects in resolving DNA replication stress: implications in human disease	. 90
Conclusions and perspectives	. 90
Conflict of interest	91
Acknowledgments	91
References	91

Introduction

Several exogenous and endogenous sources constantly challenge the integrity of replicating DNA, and can pose a serious threat to chromosomal stability by interfering with progression, stability and proper resumption of replication after fork arrest. DNA damage generated endogenously by errors during DNA replication is often referred to as replication stress and particularly affects genomic loci where progression of replication forks is slow or problematic. Cells have evolved a panoply of mechanisms to deal with different kinds of DNA damage that ensure the integrity of the genome during replication. Various repair mechanisms and different checkpoint machineries exist, which stop or slow down cell cycle progression until the damage is repaired. These DNA replication, repair and checkpoint activation pathways are highly regulated and coordinated. Defects in any of these functions leads to genomic instability and may lead to cancer, premature ageing or disorders associated with loss of genomic integrity.

Overview of DNA replication

DNA replication is initiated at defined loci known as replication origins. In the eukaryotic genome, replication begins at multiple origins, ranging from a few hundred in yeast to thousands in humans. These are distributed along the length of each chromosome [1]. Initiation of replication comprises a two-step process: origin licensing and firing. Origin licensing starts as early as late M or early G1 with the assembly of a pre-replicative complex (pre-RC) at each origin (early or late). The pre-RC consists of the origin recognition complex (ORC1-6 proteins), cell division cycle 6 (Cdc6), cell division cycle 10-dependent transcript 1 (Cdt1) and the core replicative helicase component Mcm2-7, consisting of the minichromosome maintenance proteins 2-7 (Mcm2-Mcm7) [2,3]. The second step, origin firing, involves the activation of the Mcm2-7 complex which is restricted to S phase and culminates in the formation of a pair of oppositely oriented replication forks that contain a single Mcm2-7 helicase hexamer complex at the apex of each fork [4]. Cyclin dependent kinases (CDKs) and Dbf dependent kinases (DDKs) promote the conversion of the pre-RC complex into a pre-initiation complex capable of unwinding DNA and carrying out DNA synthesis [5]. At the G1/S transition, when CDK activity rises, numerous additional factors cooperate to convert the MCM2-7 double hexamer into two CMG (Cdc45. Mcm2–7.GINS) complexes [6]. In particular, Cdc7–Dbf4 protein kinase (DDK) phosphorylates MCM2-7. CDK phosphorylates Sld2 (sharing homology to human RECQ4) and Sld3 (the yeast homolog of Treslin in human), promoting their interaction with Dpb11 (the yeast homolog of TopBP1 in human). The Sld3-Sld2-Dpb11 complex enables the stable binding of Cdc45 and GINS to phosphorylated MCM2-7. Once formed, CMG unwinds the origin,

allowing replisome assembly. Replication forks then travel bidirectionally outwards from the origin until the entire genome is replicated [7–10].

Sources of DNA replication stress

Replication stress is defined as slowing or stalling in replication fork progression. It arises from many different sources, which are considered as replication barriers such as telomeres, repetitive sequences, DNA lesions and misincorporation of ribonucleotides, secondary DNA structures, DNA–RNA hybrids, dormant replication origins, collisions between replication and transcription complexes, hypo-acetylation and compaction of chromatin, early-replicating fragile sites (ERFSs) and common fragile sites (CFSs). Finally overexpression or constitutive activation of oncogenes such as HRAS, c-Myc and cyclin E is an emerging source of replication stress. Following, we discuss some of the most relevant sources of replication stress in more detail (see Fig. 1). We refer readers to the following review for an overall picture of agents than induce replication stress [11].

Fragile sites

Certain loci in the human genome are particularly difficult to replicate, hence rendering them prone to fragility. Most prominent amongst these are the so-called fragile site loci. As mentioned above, fragile sites can be classed CFSs or ERFSs. The former have a high A/T content, occur at sequences prone to form secondary structures, possess a condensed chromatin structure and replicate late. In contrast ERFSs are G/C rich, have an open chromatin state and replicate early.

Fragile sites are defined as being either common or rare; the former, CFSs, are present in all individuals, whereas rare fragile sites are found in less than 5% of the population [12]. There are over 200 CFSs in the human genome and these regions are quite large, ranging from just under 1 Mb to over 10 Mb in size. CFSs are prone to replication stress-induced DNA double-strand breaks (DSBs) visible in condensed metaphase chromosomes and their occurrence is dependent on the endonuclease activity of MUS81-EME1, in synergy with the resolving action of the BLM helicase to prevent chromosome breakage [13,14]. The most typical inducer of CFSs used experimentally is aphidicolin, an inhibitor of the replicative DNA polymerases α , δ , and ε [15]. The three most frequently expressed CFSs are FRA3B, FRA16D, and FRA6E [16–18]. Several studies in cell culture models have shown that under conditions that induce replication stress, fragile sites are hotspots for sister chromatid exchange, translocations and deletions [19]. The frequent alterations within these regions in multiple cancers have led to the identification of a number of extremely large genes contained within CFSs. Several of these large genes have



Fig. 1 – Schematic representation of the predominant DNA damage pathways that process replication intermediates. Replication stress induced by various endogenous or exogenous sources results in the generation of single strand DNA bound by RPA protein. RPA recruits ATRIP, Rad17 and 9-1-1 complex which together with TOPBP1 result in the activation of the ATR kinase, which is responsible for phosphorylation of CHK1, suppression of new origin firing and activation of the S phase checkpoint, allowing time for the cell to recover. The MRN complex and RAD51 have also been shown to be recruited at sites of single strand DNA after replication stress and to be required for fork restart. While it is unclear whether ATM has a role in MRN activation under these conditions, ATMIN, which is also an interactor of ATM, may play a role in ATM activation in response to replication stress. ATM can also activate BLM helicase which contributes to the resolution of replication fork into double strand breaks which then may be resolved by homologous recombination through recruitment of CtIP and RAD51. However, in the absence of ATR, replication stress can leave regions of the genome incompletely replicated resulting in abnormal DNA structures which if not properly resolved can be transmitted to the next generation in the form of DNA lesions resulting in genome instability.

been demonstrated to function as tumor suppressors involved in the formation of many different cancers including colorectal cancer and oropharyngeal squamous cell carcinomas [20–22]. A recent concept emphasizes the importance of replication origin density in the maintenance of CFS stability [23]. According to this concept, certain common fragile sites are characterized by a reduced number of replication initiation events that limit the number and density of active origins, thus rendering these "initiation-poor" regions susceptible to incomplete replication and fragility.

ERFSs are a new class of fragile sites and have been defined as similar to CFSs. This is because of their susceptibility to chromosome breakage, dependence on ATR signaling and sensitivity to replication stress induced by hydroxyurea, ATR inhibition or deregulated c-Myc expression. Moreover, more than 50% of recurrent amplifications/deletions in human diffuse large B cell lymphoma map to ERFSs [24].

Replication-transcription complex collision

Collisions between transcription machinery and replication forks are an additional source of genome instability. In higher eukaryotes, replication and transcription are coordinated processes, and they occur within spatially and temporally separated domains. Active transcription usually occurs in the G1 phase. When transcription occurs in S phase, it has been suggested to be spatially separated from replication sites [25]. It has been reported that genes of 800 Kb or more in size, often located at CFSs, produce their transcripts over more than one cell cycle, consequently extending transcription into the next S phase, which increases the probability of collisions between replication and transcription complexes and hence formation of DNA-RNA hybrids (R-loops). Multiple strategies are employed to avoid Rloop formation in prokaryotic and eukaryotic cells. Helmrich and colleagues and Wahba and colleagues demonstrate in vivo roles for RNaseH enzymes in maintaining genome integrity, which has potential implications in human disease (see section on diseases associated with defective clearance of replication stress) [26,27]. Interestingly, a recent study showed that BRCA2, a DNA repair protein with tumor suppressive function prevents accumulation of R-loops [28]. Although the exact mechanism is unclear, this important finding further demonstrates the essential role of DNA damage and repair components for efficient dealing with replication stress. Apart from the generation of R-loops transcription can interfere with replication by imposing increased topological stress at sites where newly formed RNA transcripts are tethered to nuclear pore complexes for further processing. Bermejo et al. showed that the ATR-dependent checkpoint counteracts this topological stress by releasing transcribed genes from the nuclear pores, allowing normal progression of the replication fork [29]

Oncogenic stress

Oncogenic stress is a major driving force in the early stages of cancer development [30]. The finding that DNA damage response is activated in hyperplastic tissues and after overexpression of oncogenes such as cyclin E, cdc25A and E2F1 (that deregulate replication) set the ground for linking oncogenes to replication stress-associated DNA damage [31,32]. In studies that followed, further analysis of replication dynamics and the DNA damage

response after overexpression of oncogenes confirmed this model, where oncogenes such as cyclin E lead to perturbation of normal replication, activation of the DNA damage response and cell cycle checkpoints that lead to arrest or senescence [33,34]. Cyclin E causes replication stress not only by deregulating cell cycle progression but also by disrupting DNA replication during S phase. Cyclin E overexpression is associated with increased firing of replication origins, impaired replication fork progression and DNA damage. A significant amount of Cyclin E-induced replication slowing is due to decreased nucleotide pools and/or interference between replication and transcription. c-Myc is another oncogene found to directly control DNA synthesis and promotes cell proliferation. Indeed, overexpression studies have indicated that ectopic expression or conditional activation of c-Myc triggers an increase in the percentage of S phase cells in asynchronous populations [35]. The overexpression of c-Myc in a number of in vitro cellular systems has been associated with the activation of a DNA damage response (DDR), and increased genomic instability [36,37]. This suggests that elevated c-Myc levels lead to the accumulation of DNA damage, however the molecular mechanism is still not completely defined. One of the suggested mechanisms c-Myc induced genomic instability is its affect on replication fork dynamics [38]. It has been shown that elevated levels of c-Myc increase the number of firing replication origins which are highly asymmetric. This can lead to uneven replication processivity on either side of the replication bubble, which is indicative of replication stress and fork stalling events [35].

DNA structures

It is thought that the accessibility of DNA to replication factors can be influenced by local chromatin structure. Additionally, chromatin structure modulates origin firing time and efficiency [39]. The canonical DNA structure is the right-handed double helix B form of DNA. However, it can adopt several other non-B DNA structures including: cruciforms, hairpins, H DNA, Z DNA and G4. These secondary conformations form in the genome at specific DNA repetitive sequences and present a challenge for progression of DNA replication forks. Impeding normal DNA synthesis, and formation of these alternative forms of DNA structure may threat genome stability and in some instances play a causal role in disease development [40].

The kinases ATR and ATM signal DNA replication stress

In order to cope with the constant challenge of DNA damage encountered by replicating DNA, cells activate a complex network of interacting pathways that lead either to the repair of the damage and resumption of normal cell cycle progression or to programmed cell death. This network coordinates the activation of cell cycle checkpoints, the appropriate DNA repair pathways, and numerous other responses [41]. One of the central components of the DDR is the serine–threonine kinase Ataxia Telangiectasia Mutated protein (ATM), which phosphorylates numerous key players in various branches of the DDR [42,43]. ATM is a member of the phosphoinositide 3-kinase (PI3K)-related protein kinase (PIKK) family, which also includes Ataxia Telangiectasia and Rad3 Related protein (ATR) – refer to Fig. 1. ATM transduces a response to various stimuli, but most prominently to DNA DSBs. In contrast, ATR is the key kinase in signaling the response to ssDNA, which can occur at persistent DSBs, but more extensively on stalled replication forks [44].

Functions of ATR

ATR is activated by its physical recruitment to the ss-DNA binding protein RPA, which independently brings together the two components of the ATR pathway. On one hand, RPA recruits ATRIP, which is in a complex with ATR and thus brings the kinase to the DNA lesion. On the other hand, RPA recruits Rad17, which loads the Rad9-Hus1-Rad1 (9-1-1) complex. This complex is then essential to recruit and position the allosteric activator TopBP1. Within close proximity, TopBP1 activates ATR. In spite of the numerous substrates of ATR, the key event that translates ATR activity into a checkpoint signal may mostly depend on one single target, which is the phosphorylation and activation of CHK1 [44]. ATR and/or CHK1 inhibition results in checkpoint defects and chromosome breakage, further consolidating the notion that cellcycle checkpoints somehow prevent uncontrolled fork collapse [45]. However, the mechanism governing global regulation of checkpoints via inhibition of new DNA replication origins from firing by the ATR/CHK1 pathway to maintain local fork stability remains unclear. There are two possible mechanisms, firstly checkpoint signaling locally affects replication fork components, which would contribute directly to fork stabilization. Secondly, ATR signaling regulates recombinational repair, which is necessary to restart collapsed forks. Toledo and colleagues demonstrated another mechanism, which explains how ATR protects replication forks locally and suppresses origin firing globally. When ATR is activated by RPA-coated ssDNA generated ahead of the stalled replication fork, CHK1 diffuses globally through the nucleus, where it inhibits new origin firing [46]. This ensures that RPA remains in excess over ssDNA by limiting the number of stalled forks to those that were originally active at the onset of the replication stress. If ATR signaling fails, dormant origins fire, and the newly generated ssDNA progressively depletes nuclear RPA. When all RPA becomes sequestered, every active replicon generates unprotected ssDNA, which is rapidly converted into DSBs [45,46]. Recently, Yamada et al. showed that in human cells activation of the ATR/CHK1 pathway results in stabilization of chromatin-bound Cdc7-ASK kinase complex (human homolog of cdc7-Dbf4) which is necessary for initiation of normal replication and origin firing [47]. However, upon staling of replication, activation of cdc7/ASK complex by the ATR/CHK1 pathway is required for efficient lesion bypass repair, thus preventing fork collapse under conditions of replication stress.

Functions of ATM

Although ATR is considered to be the major kinase mediating the response to replication stress, mainly due to its ability to activate the intra-S phase checkpoint, evidence exists to support a role for ATM activation in response to replication stress. One aspect of ATM function under these conditions could be the activation of the homologous recombination repair pathway, which is important for restart of collapsed replication forks and recovery of replication after induction of replication stress [48]. This function may require the recruitment of the MRN complex at sites of

stalled or collapsed replication forks that promote DNA endresection, the first important step for homologous recombination. Recruitment of the MRN complex to sites of DNA damage is important for ATM activation in response to ionizing radiation (IR)-induced DSBs. The MRN complex members Mre11 and Nbs1 are required for efficient recovery of replication after treatment with replication stalling agents such as hydroxyurea [49,50]. However, the necessity for an interaction between ATM and Mre11 and Nbs1 at sites of stalled forks remains a matter of controversy. Certain studies indicate that recruitment of the MRN complex following replication stress contributes to activation of ATR rather than ATM signaling [51–53]. However, another study suggests that both ATM and ATR are required for efficient Mre11dependent fork restart and prevention of DSB accumulation during unperturbed replication and after chemically induced replication stress [54]. Apart from homologous recombination, ATM can also influence replication fork restart by directly regulating the DNA helicases WRN and BLM, which are both required for resolution of replication intermediates and are both substrates of ATM [55,56].

Two independent studies show that activated ATM is recruited to chromatin foci at sites of common fragile sites following mild replication stress induced by aphidicolin [57,58]. In line with this, ATM depletion in addition to ATR loss results in increased fragility at CFS compared to depletion of ATR alone, supporting a role for ATM in the maintenance of chromosome stability after replication stress [59]. According to the proposed model, ATM is activated after formation of DNA DSBs that arise at a later stage as a result of replication fork collapse or chromatin breakage at sites of unreplicated DNA during mitosis. If the role of ATM is restricted solely to the activation of checkpoint and DNA repair in response to DSBs that arise as a result of further processing of replication intermediates remains unclear. Evidence challenging this view is limited, nevertheless intriguing, especially considering the lack of information on the exact nature of the specific DNA lesions that arise at sites of stalled forks and incompletely replicated DNA. For example, induction of replication stress by low doses of the topoisomerase I inhibitor camptothecin results in ATM activation in the absence of detectable DSBs [60]. Furthermore recent data from a large-scale analysis of proteins specifically localized at stalled forks after replication stress showed ATM recruitment at nascent chromatin at an early stage of DNA replication [61]. However, a role for ATM in the early response to replication stress has not been confirmed and more studies will be needed to clarify this. Moreover, the type, intensity and duration of the stimulus might be critical factors determining the relative contribution of each pathway to the final response.

In addition to NBS1, ATM possesses a second cofactor; ATMIN (also known as ASCIZ) that has been described [62,63]. ATMIN interacts with ATM using a motif homologous to that of NBS1 [62]. It has previously been shown using siRNA approaches in human cell lines and using ATMIN-deficient mouse embryonic fibroblasts (MEFs) that ATMIN has a complementary function to NBS1 with respect to ATM activation: ATMIN is dispensable for IR-induced ATM signaling, but ATM activation following replication and hypotonic stress is mediated by ATMIN [62]. Hence, NBS1 and ATMIN are required for ATM activation in a signal dependent manner [64].

Unresolved replication intermediates can occur during S/G2 phases of the cell cycle and can be converted into DNA lesions in

M phase in particular into DSBs. It has been shown that a protein that binds to p53, known as 53BP1 [65], is involved in shielding genomic regions exposed to replication stress and is recruited to such sites in an ATM-dependent manner. 53BP1 forms nuclear bodies at such sites of unrepaired DNA lesions in the subsequent G1 phase to shield these regions against erosion [58].

Defects in resolving DNA replication stress: implications in human disease

Identification of mutations responsible for various genetic syndromes has revealed the direct implication of proteins mediating the response to replication stress in the pathology of human disease [11]. Phenotypic characteristics shared among these syndromes include developmental defects, growth retardation and neurological disorders, suggestive for the importance of efficient regulation of replication during processes that require increased cell proliferation. For example, mutations in the prereplication factors ORC1, ORC2–6 and cdt1, cdc6 that affect licensing of DNA replication are related to the Meier–Gorlin Syndrome, a disease characterized by severe growth retardation and developmental malformations [66].

Many other mutations involved in genetic syndromes affect proteins that also play an important role in the DDR, which is essential for accurate replication of the genetic material. The most prominent example is the Seckel syndrome caused predominantly by mutations in the ATR gene, which is essential for the activation of the intra-S phase checkpoint during replication stress [67]. Interestingly, a different type of Seckel syndrome is associated with mutations found in the RBBP8 gene encoding CtIP, a protein required for DNA-end resection during S phase [68]. More importantly, CtIP is an ATM substrate and interacts with the MRN complex, which also mediates DNA damage signaling and repair during replication. Mutations affecting members of the MRN complex cause syndromes characterized by growth and developmental defects [69]. Apart from ATR and RBBP8, other types of Seckel syndrome are caused by mutations in genes affecting centrosome structure and function including pericentrin (PCNT) [70].

Another type of heterogeneous human diseases, collectively called laminopathies, are the result of mutations in nuclear lamin genes such as LMNA which lead to abnormal nuclear morphology and alterations in chromatin structure. Interestingly, cells expressing a defective form of Lamin A called progerin are more sensitive to replication stress and recently it has been demonstrated that reorganization of the microtubule network inside the nucleus can rescue the nuclear morphology and fitness of laminopathic cells derived from Hutchinson–Gilford progeria syndrome (HGPS) patients [71,72]. The above examples provide a link between microtubule network organization and replication stress and point out the importance of intact centrosome function and nuclear structure for normal replication.

Mutations in proteins involved in chromatin remodeling during DNA replication have also been associated with human disease. Mutations in the SMARCAL1 and ATRX genes, which are both related to the SWI–SNF chromatin remodeling complex, are mutated in the Schimke immune-osseous dysplasia (SIOD) and the α -thalassemia/mental retardation syndrome, X-linked (ATR-X) respectively [73,74].

Hypomorphic mutations in the RNase H2 gene cause the Aicardi-Goutieres syndrome that is characterized by severe neurological dysfunction and a congenital infection-like phenotype [75]. As RNase H2 cleaves misincorporated ribonucleotides and DNA:RNA hybrids that arise during replication, it is possible that a defective response to increased replication stress may be the cause of the developmental retardation phenotype. Another protein acting in the same pathway, aprataxin (APTX) is mutated in the neurological disorder Apraxia Oculomotor Ataxia 1 (AOA1), characterized by cerebellar degeneration. Aprataxin deadenylates adenylated RNA:DNA hybrids that arise after cleavage by RNase H2, thus preventing S phase checkpoint activation [76].

Mutations in the FA complementation group are responsible for the heterogeneous genetic disorder Fanconi Anemia (FA) which is characterized by skeletal abnormalities, developmental delay, growth retardation and increased incidence of cancer development, especially in tissues with a high proliferation index [77]. FA proteins are components of the interstrand crosslink DNA repair pathway, while FANCD2 is also essential for maintenance of genome stability during replication [78]. Mutations affecting the RECQ family DNA helicases WRN, BLM and RECQL4, which play an important role in the efficient resolution of replication intermediates and arrested forks, are responsible for the genetic syndromes Werner, Bloom and Rothmund–Thomson respectively [79]. In addition to growth retardation, these syndromes are also characterized by premature aging and predisposition to cancer, phenotypes indicative of increased genomic instability. Cancer susceptibility is also a characteristic of FA patients suggesting a causative link between replication stress and cancer. Confirming this link, replication stress has been shown to be a major source of chromosomal instability (CIN) observed in CIN⁺ colorectal cancers [80].

Whether replication stress is a driving force of tumourigenesis or a result of oncogenic mutations that allows further genome instability during cancer development remains to be elucidated. Interestingly, extensive crosstalk between different DNA repair pathways is necessary for the coordination of an efficient response to replication stress. For example, FANCD2 has been shown to mediate part of the ATR response to replication stress, while it also interacts with CtIP and BLM to promote restart of stalled replication forks [81–83]. Although the exact mechanism of the pathological phenotype is not entirely understood, common clinical manifestations of mutations in different genes of these pathways clearly indicates the existing crosstalk and the need for efficient coordination of the replication process with the DNA repair machinery through the DNA damage signaling pathway in order to allow normal progression of DNA replication while preserving genome integrity.

Conclusions and perspectives

Elucidating the pathways and interactions governing the response to replication stress will shed light on the molecular mechanisms that ensure genome integrity during replication under endogenous sources of replication stress. Furthermore, we will increase our understanding of how exogenous sources or defects in critical pathway components can lead to increased genome instability. An important challenge for the years to come will be to identify the specific regions of the genome that are particularly affected during different types of replication stress. To this end, recent advances in technology can be exploited to apply novel methodology such as next generation sequencing, iPOND or BLESS to map specific DNA regions affected by replication stress and the specific protein interactions that mediate their fragility, respectively [84,85]. Moreover, CRISPR-mediated imaging of specific chromatin loci in living cells offers a powerful opportunity to reveal the dynamic interactions at sites of increased fragility following replication stress [86]. Thus, despite the progress that has been achieved during the last years, extensive studies and novel technology will be needed to boost our current understanding of the mechanisms mediating the response to replication stress and the associated genome instability. Advance in current knowledge regarding the response to replication stress will also be an important step towards more specialized therapies and development of new treatments for diseases including cancer.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that they have no conflict of interest.

Acknowledgments

We thank the Loizou lab for input and discussions. We thank Drs. Slade, Nijman and Schliehe for critical reading of the manuscript. We apologize to those authors whose work was not cited in some instances due to space limitations. Funding from the FWF (Project number P 24766-B20) and from a Marie-Curie Career Integration Grant (Project number: 321602- NonCanATM) support the Loizou lab. GV is funded by an EMBO Long Term fellowship (Fellowship number ALTF 730-2014) CeMM is funded by the Austrian Academy of Sciences.

REFERENCES

- E. Sacco, M.M. Hasan, L. Alberghina, M. Vanoni, Comparative analysis of the molecular mechanisms controlling the initiation of chromosomal DNA replication in yeast and in mammalian cells, Biotechnol. Adv. 30 (2012) 73–98.
- [2] A. Gambus, G.A. Khoudoli, R.C. Jones, J.J. Blow, MCM2-7 form double hexamers at licensed origins in Xenopus egg extract, J. Biol. Chem. 286 (2011) 11855–11864.
- [3] S. Yamazaki, M. Hayano, H. Masai, Replication timing regulation of eukaryotic replicons: Rif1 as a global regulator of replication timing, Trends Genet. TIG 29 (2013) 449–460.
- [4] D. Boos, J. Frigola, J.F. Diffley, Activation of the replicative DNA helicase: breaking up is hard to do, Curr. Opin. Cell Biol. 24 (2012) 423–430.
- [5] A. Errico, V. Costanzo, Mechanisms of replication fork protection: a safeguard for genome stability, Crit. Rev. Biochem. Mol. Biol. 47 (2012) 222–235.
- [6] S.E. Moyer, P.W. Lewis, M.R. Botchan, Isolation of the Cdc45/ Mcm2-7/GINS (CMG) complex, a candidate for the eukaryotic DNA replication fork helicase, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 103 (2006) 10236–10241.
- [7] I. Ilves, T. Petojevic, J.J. Pesavento, M.R. Botchan, Activation of the MCM2-7 helicase by association with Cdc45 and GINS proteins, Mol. Cell 37 (2010) 247–258.
- [8] Y.V. Fu, et al., Selective bypass of a lagging strand roadblock by the eukaryotic replicative DNA helicase, Cell 146 (2011) 931–941.

- [9] K. Labib, How do Cdc7 and cyclin-dependent kinases trigger the initiation of chromosome replication in eukaryotic cells?, Genes Dev. 24 (2010) 1208–1219.
- [10] S. Tanaka, H. Araki, Regulation of the initiation step of DNA replication by cyclin-dependent kinases, Chromosoma 119 (2010) 565–574.
- [11] M.K. Zeman, K.A. Cimprich, Causes and consequences of replication stress, Nat. Cell Biol. 16 (2014) 2–9.
- [12] S.G. Durkin, T.W. Glover, Chromosome fragile sites, Annu. Rev. Genet. 41 (2007) 169–192.
- [13] S. Ying, et al., MUS81 promotes common fragile site expression, Nat. Cell Biol. 15 (2013) 1001–1007.
- [14] V. Naim, T. Wilhelm, M. Debatisse, F. Rosselli, ERCC1 and MUS81-EME1 promote sister chromatid separation by processing late replication intermediates at common fragile sites during mitosis, Nat. Cell Biol. 15 (2013) 1008–1015.
- [15] T.W. Glover, C. Berger, J. Coyle, B. Echo, DNA polymerase alpha inhibition by aphidicolin induces gaps and breaks at common fragile sites in human chromosomes, Hum. Genet. 67 (1984) 136–142.
- [16] N.A. Becker, E.C. Thorland, S.R. Denison, L.A. Phillips, D.I. Smith, Evidence that instability within the FRA3B region extends four megabases, Oncogene 21 (2002) 8713–8722.
- [17] A.K. Bednarek, et al., WWOX, the FRA16D gene, behaves as a suppressor of tumor growth, Cancer Res. 61 (2001) 8068–8073.
- [18] S.R. Denison, G. Callahan, N.A. Becker, L.A. Phillips, D.I. Smith, Characterization of FRA6E and its potential role in autosomal recessive juvenile parkinsonism and ovarian cancer, Genes Chromosomes Cancer 38 (2003) 40–52.
- [19] L. Wang, et al., Aphidicolin-induced FRA3B breakpoints cluster in two distinct regions, Genomics 41 (1997) 485–488.
- [20] G. Poulogiannis, et al., PARK2 deletions occur frequently in sporadic colorectal cancer and accelerate adenoma development in Apc mutant mice, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 107 (2010) 15145– 15150.
- [21] G. Gao, et al., A selected group of large common fragile site genes have decreased expression in oropharyngeal squamous cell carcinomas, Genes Chromosomes Cancer 53 (2014) 392–401.
- [22] M. Ohta, et al., The FHIT gene, spanning the chromosome 3p14.2 fragile site and renal carcinoma-associated t(3;8) breakpoint, is abnormal in digestive tract cancers, Cell 84 (1996) 587–597.
- [23] A. Letessier, et al., Cell-type-specific replication initiation programs set fragility of the FRA3B fragile site, Nature 470 (2011) 120–123.
- [24] J.H. Barlow, et al., Identification of early replicating fragile sites that contribute to genome instability, Cell 152 (2013) 620–632.
- [25] K.F. Vieira, et al., Recruitment of transcription complexes to the beta-globin gene locus in vivo and in vitro, J. Biol. Chem. 279 (2004) 50350–50357.
- [26] A. Helmrich, M. Ballarino, L. Tora, Collisions between replication and transcription complexes cause common fragile site instability at the longest human genes, Mol. Cell 44 (2011) 966–977.
- [27] L. Wahba, J.D. Amon, D. Koshland, M. Vuica-Ross, RNase H and multiple RNA biogenesis factors cooperate to prevent RNA:DNA hybrids from generating genome instability, Mol. Cell 44 (2011) 978–988.
- [28] V. Bhatia, et al., BRCA2 prevents R-loop accumulation and associates with TREX-2 mRNA export factor PCID2, Nature 511 (2014) 362–365.
- [29] R. Bermejo, et al., The replication checkpoint protects fork stability by releasing transcribed genes from nuclear pores, Cell 146 (2011) 233–246.
- [30] T.D. Halazonetis, V.G. Gorgoulis, J. Bartek, An oncogene-induced DNA damage model for cancer development, Science 319 (2008) 1352–1355.
- [31] J. Bartkova, et al., DNA damage response as a candidate anticancer barrier in early human tumorigenesis, Nature 434 (2005) 864–870.

- [32] V.G. Gorgoulis, et al., Activation of the DNA damage checkpoint and genomic instability in human precancerous lesions, Nature 434 (2005) 907–913.
- [33] J. Bartkova, et al., Oncogene-induced senescence is part of the tumorigenesis barrier imposed by DNA damage checkpoints, Nature 444 (2006) 633–637.
- [34] R. Di Micco, et al., Oncogene-induced senescence is a DNA damage response triggered by DNA hyper-replication, Nature 444 (2006) 638–642.
- [35] S.V. Srinivasan, D. Dominguez-Sola, L.C. Wang, O. Hyrien, J. Gautier, Cdc45 is a critical effector of myc-dependent DNA replication stress, Cell Rep. 3 (2013) 1629–1639.
- [36] M. Reimann, et al., The Myc-evoked DNA damage response accounts for treatment resistance in primary lymphomas in vivo, Blood 110 (2007) 2996–3004.
- [37] P.E. Neiman, et al., Genomic instability during Myc-induced lymphomagenesis in the bursa of Fabricius, Oncogene 25 (2006) 6325–6335.
- [38] S. Rohban, S. Campaner, Myc induced replicative stress response: How to cope with it and exploit it, Biochim. Biophys. Acta (2014).
- [39] J.G. Aparicio, C.J. Viggiani, D.G. Gibson, O.M. Aparicio, The Rpd3-Sin3 histone deacetylase regulates replication timing and enables intra-S origin control in Saccharomyces cerevisiae, Mol. Cell Biol. 24 (2004) 4769–4780.
- [40] A.S. Boyer, S. Grgurevic, C. Cazaux, J.S. Hoffmann, The human specialized DNA polymerases and non-B DNA: vital relationships to preserve genome integrity, J. Mol. Biol. 425 (2013) 4767–4781.
- [41] A. Ciccia, S.J. Elledge, The DNA damage response: making it safe to play with knives, Mol. Cell 40 (2010) 179–204.
- [42] M.F. Lavin, S. Kozlov, ATM activation and DNA damage response, Cell Cycle 6 (2007) 931–942.
- [43] F.A. Derheimer, M.B. Kastan, Multiple roles of ATM in monitoring and maintaining DNA integrity, FEBS Lett. 584 (2010) 3675– 3681.
- [44] A.J. Lopez-Contreras, O. Fernandez-Capetillo, The ATR barrier to replication-born DNA damage, DNA Repair (Amst) 9 (2010) 1249–1255.
- [45] O. Fernandez-Capetillo, A. Nussenzweig, Naked replication forks break apRPArt, Cell 155 (2013) 979–980.
- [46] L.I. Toledo, et al., ATR prohibits replication catastrophe by preventing global exhaustion of RPA, Cell 155 (2013) 1088–1103.
- [47] M. Yamada, et al., ATR-Chk1-APC/CCdh1-dependent stabilization of Cdc7-ASK (Dbf4) kinase is required for DNA lesion bypass under replication stress, Genes Dev. 27 (2013) 2459–2472.
- [48] E. Petermann, T. Helleday, Pathways of mammalian replication fork restart. Nature reviews, Mol. Cell Biol. 11 (2010) 683–687.
- [49] J. Falck, et al., CDK targeting of NBS1 promotes DNA-end resection, replication restart and homologous recombination, EMBO Rep. 13 (2012) 561–568.
- [50] J.G. Robison, J. Elliott, K. Dixon, G.G. Oakley, Replication protein A and the Mre11.Rad50.Nbs1 complex co-localize and interact at sites of stalled replication forks, J. Biol. Chem. 279 (2004) 34802– 34810.
- [51] A.M. Duursma, R. Driscoll, J.E. Elias, K.A. Cimprich, A role for the MRN complex in ATR activation via TOPBP1 recruitment, Mol. Cell 50 (2013) 116–122.
- [52] J. Lee, W.G. Dunphy, The Mre11-Rad50-Nbs1 (MRN) complex has a specific role in the activation of Chk1 in response to stalled replication forks, Mol. Biol. Cell 24 (2013) 1343–1353.
- [53] B. Shiotani, et al., Two distinct modes of ATR activation orchestrated by Rad17 and Nbs1, Cell Rep. 3 (2013) 1651–1662.
- [54] K. Trenz, E. Smith, S. Smith, V. Costanzo, ATM and ATR promote Mre11 dependent restart of collapsed replication forks and prevent accumulation of DNA breaks, EMBO J. 25 (2006) 1764– 1774.
- [55] F. Ammazzalorso, L.M. Pirzio, M. Bignami, A. Franchitto, P. Pichierri, ATR and ATM differently regulate WRN to prevent DSBs

at stalled replication forks and promote replication fork recovery, EMBO J. 29 (2010) 3156–3169.

- [56] A.R. Davalos, P. Kaminker, R.K. Hansen, J. Campisi, ATR and ATMdependent movement of BLM helicase during replication stress ensures optimal ATM activation and 53BP1 focus formation, Cell Cycle 3 (2004) 1579–1586.
- [57] J.A. Harrigan, et al., Replication stress induces 53BP1-containing OPT domains in G1 cells, J. Cell Biol. 193 (2011) 97–108.
- [58] C. Lukas, et al., 53BP1 nuclear bodies form around DNA lesions generated by mitotic transmission of chromosomes under replication stress, Nat. Cell Biol. 13 (2011) 243–253.
- [59] E. Ozeri-Galai, M. Schwartz, A. Rahat, B. Kerem, Interplay between ATM and ATR in the regulation of common fragile site stability, Oncogene 27 (2008) 2109–2117.
- [60] A. Ray Chaudhuri, et al., Topoisomerase I poisoning results in PARP-mediated replication fork reversal, Nat. Struct. Mol. Biol. 19 (2012) 417–423.
- [61] C. Alabert, et al., Nascent chromatin capture proteomics determines chromatin dynamics during DNA replication and identifies unknown fork components, Nat. Cell Biol. 16 (2014) 281–293.
- [62] N. Kanu, A. Behrens, ATMIN defines an NBS1-independent pathway of ATM signalling, EMBO J. 26 (2007) 2933–2941.
- [63] C.J. McNees, L.A. Conlan, N. Tenis, J. Heierhorst, ASCIZ regulates lesion-specific Rad51 focus formation and apoptosis after methylating DNA damage, EMBO J. 24 (2005) 2447–2457.
- [64] T. Zhang, et al., Competition between NBS1 and ATMIN controls ATM signaling pathway choice, Cell Rep. 2 (2012) 1498–1504.
- [65] K. Iwabuchi, et al., Stimulation of p53-mediated transcriptional activation by the p53-binding proteins, 53BP1 and 53BP2, J. Biol. Chem. 273 (1998) 26061–26068.
- [66] L.S. Bicknell, et al., Mutations in the pre-replication complex cause Meier-Gorlin syndrome, Nat. Genet. 43 (2011) 356–359.
- [67] M. O'Driscoll, V.L. Ruiz-Perez, C.G. Woods, P.A. Jeggo, J.A. Goodship, A splicing mutation affecting expression of ataxia-telangiectasia and Rad3-related protein (ATR) results in Seckel syndrome, Nat. Genet. 33 (2003) 497–501.
- [68] P. Qvist, et al., CtIP Mutations Cause Seckel and Jawad Syndromes, PLoS Genet. 7 (2011) e1002310.
- [69] T.H. Stracker, J.H. Petrini, The MRE11 complex: starting from the ends. Nature reviews, Mol. Cell Biol. 12 (2011) 90–103.
- [70] E. Griffith, et al., Mutations in pericentrin cause Seckel syndrome with defective ATR-dependent DNA damage signaling, Nat. Genet. 40 (2008) 232–236.
- [71] M. Singh, et al., Lamin A/C depletion enhances DNA damageinduced stalled replication fork arrest, Mol. Cell Biol. 33 (2013) 1210–1222.
- [72] D. Larrieu, S. Britton, M. Demir, R. Rodriguez, S.P. Jackson, Chemical inhibition of NAT10 corrects defects of laminopathic cells, Science 344 (2014) 527–532.
- [73] C.F. Boerkoel, et al., Mutant chromatin remodeling protein SMARCAL1 causes Schimke immuno-osseous dysplasia, Nat. Genet. 30 (2002) 215–220.
- [74] D. Clynes, et al., ATRX dysfunction induces replication defects in primary mouse cells, PloS One 9 (2014) e92915.
- [75] Y.J. Crow, et al., Mutations in genes encoding ribonuclease H2 subunits cause Aicardi-Goutieres syndrome and mimic congenital viral brain infection, Nat. Genet. 38 (2006) 910–916.
- [76] P. Tumbale, J.S. Williams, M.J. Schellenberg, T.A. Kunkel, R.S. Williams, Aprataxin resolves adenylated RNA-DNA junctions to maintain genome integrity, Nature 506 (2014) 111–115.
- [77] M. Tischkowitz, I. Dokal, Fanconi anaemia and leukaemia clinical and molecular aspects, Br. J. Haematol. 126 (2004) 176– 191.
- [78] N.G. Howlett, T. Taniguchi, S.G. Durkin, A.D. D'Andrea, T.W. Glover, The Fanconi anemia pathway is required for the DNA replication stress response and for the regulation of common fragile site stability, Hum. Mol. Genet. 14 (2005) 693–701.

- [79] C.Z. Bachrati, I.D. Hickson, RecQ helicases: guardian angels of the DNA replication fork, Chromosoma 117 (2008) 219–233.
- [80] R.A. Burrell, et al., Replication stress links structural and numerical cancer chromosomal instability, Nature 494 (2013) 492–496.
- [81] G. Lossaint, et al., FANCD2 binds MCM proteins and controls replisome function upon activation of s phase checkpoint signaling, Mol. Cell 51 (2013) 678–690.
- [82] J.E. Yeo, E.H. Lee, E. Hendrickson, A. Sobeck, CtIP mediates replication fork recovery in a FANCD2-regulated manner, Hum. Mol. Genet. (2014).
- [83] I. Chaudhury, A. Sareen, M. Raghunandan, A. Sobeck, FANCD2 regulates BLM complex functions independently of FANCI to

promote replication fork recovery, Nucleic Acids Res. 41 (2013) 6444–6459.

- [84] B.M. Sirbu, F.B. Couch, D. Cortez, Monitoring the spatiotemporal dynamics of proteins at replication forks and in assembled chromatin using isolation of proteins on nascent DNA, Nat. Protoc. 7 (2012) 594–605.
- [85] N. Crosetto, et al., Nucleotide-resolution DNA double-strand break mapping by next-generation sequencing, Nat. Methods 10 (2013) 361–365.
- [86] B. Chen, et al., Dynamic imaging of genomic loci in living human cells by an optimized CRISPR/Cas system, Cell 155 (2013) 1479–1491.